ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The Circuit Court's January 26,2018 final order finding that the intent of the Lewises 
in executing the November 29, 1977 quitclaim deeds was to convey a 93.15 acre parcel 
to Raymond and Jean Lewis is unsupported in fact and law. 

2. In its January 26, 2018 final order, the Circuit Court erred in disregarding the 
undisputed testimony of Defendants' expert witnesses establishing the location of the 
southern boundary of the parcel conveyed to Arthur Lewis. The Circuit Court failed to 
make findings explaining and justifying its decision to disregard expert testimony and 
other undisputed extrinsic evidence demonstrating the Lewises' knowledge and intent 
in executing the 1977 quitclaim deeds in favor of largely secondhand evidence 
reg~rding the conduct of Arthur and Raymond Lewis occurring after execution of the 
deeds. 

3. The Circuit Court erred as a matter oflaw in finding that Arthur Lewis acquired title to 
a tract consisting of 93 .15 acres by adverse possession. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in denying Defendants' renewed motion for summary judgment 
served on April 12, 2017. 

ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. THE PARTIES 

The litigation concerns ownership of a tract of land located in Grant District, Hancock 

County, West Virginia. The tract in dispute is a portion of approximately rr 85 acres owned by 

brothers Arthur E. Lewis and Raymond S. Lewis and their respective wives, Beverly C. Lewis and 

Jean T. Lewis. The Lewises acquired the subject property by deed from Clarke and Alice Stewart 

dated June 23, 1966. Importantly, the realty conveyed to the Lewis brothers and their wives by the 

Stewarts was conveyed to the Lewises as cotenants. Thus, each of the four Lewises owned a 114 

undivided interest in the 185 acres. The dispute centers on the interpretation of a quitclaim deed 

dated November 29, 1977 from the four Lewises to Arthur and Beverly Lewis whereby the Lewises 

conveyed a portion of the 185 acres they had owned as cotenants to Arthur and Beverly Lewis as 

their separate property. 

Beverly Lewis died April 4, 1981. Raymond Lewis died on January 8, 1993. Jean Lewis 

died July 20, 1996. Arthur Lewis died on January 19, 2006. 

Respondent Gwendolyn Cain, plaintiffbelow, is the daughter of Arthu~ E. Lewis, deceased. 

1 



! 
Respondent Paul Alford, plaintiff below, is the son of Respondent C~in and the grandson 

of Arthur E. Lewis. Plaintiff Ambria Alford is the daughter of Dexter Alford, deceased. Dexter 

Alford is also the son of Respondent Cain. Respondent Cain appears in in her capacity as executrix 

of the estate of her father Arthur B. Lewis, and as guardian for her infant granddaughter, Ambria 

Alford. Complaint, ~~6, S. Appx. 0004. 

Thomas R. Lewis, defendant below, is the son of Raymond S. Lewis, deceased. Vickie L. 

Lewis is Thomas R. Lewis' spouse. By quitclaim deed dated June 25, 200S, Thomas R. Lewis and 

Vickie L. Lewis conveyed their interest in the disputed realty Thomas Lewis inherited upon the 

death of his parents, Raymond and Jean Lewis, to Petitioners Betsy and James Harrell, defendants 

below. 

Respondents contend that Paul Alford and Ambria Alford each inherited 112 undivided 

interests in the disputed realty. Respondents describe the disputed tract as consisting of 

approximately 93.15 acres. Complaint ~~7,S, J5-Appx.5,7. Petitioners assert that as a result of the 

deed from Thomas Lewis, Petitioners James and Betsy Harrell own a 1/2 undivided interest in the 

disputed tract. While Respondents Paul Alford and Ambria Alford each own a 114 undivided 

interest in the disputed realty. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

The action from which this appeal is taken was commenced in the Circuit Court of Hancock 

County on June 21, 2000. Plaintiffs complaint contains three counts. The first count seeks a 

declaration regarding whether the June 25, 200S deed from Thomas R. and Vickie L. Lewis to 

Petitioners conveyed any interest in the disputed realty. The second count claif'TIS that Respondents 

acquired title to the disputed tract via adverse possession. The third count sleks injunctive relief 

in the form of an order prohibiting Petitioners from entering upon or interfering with Respondents' 

use of the disputed realty. Appx. 3-13. 
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On April 9, 2013 Petitioners filed a motion for summary judgment. By order entered July 

16, 2013, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' motion. Appx. 1. On April 12, 2017, Petitioners 

renewed their motion for summary judgment. Appx. 0017. On April 14,2017, Respondents filed 

their motion for summary judgment. Appx. 0141. By order entered May 2,2017, the Circuit Court 

denied Petitioners' renewed motion for summary judgment. The Circuit Court granted 

Respondents' motion for summary judgment in part, ruling that a November 29, 1977 deed to 

Arthur Lewis was ambiguous and that an evidentiary hearing was necessary to determine the intent 

of the parties regarding the property conveyed to Arthur Lewis. Appx. 0288. 

A bench trial was held before the Circuit Court on August 8, 2012. By final order signed 

on January 26,2018, the Circuit Court ruled that Respondents owned the disputed tract, alternately 

ruling that it was the intention of the parties that the disputed tract be conveyed to Arthur Lewis 

via the November 29, 1977 quitclaim deed and that Lewis had acquired ownership of the disputed 

parcel by adverse possession. Appx. 843. The Circuit Court's final order was docketed on February 

5,2018. Petitioners' notice of appeal was timely filed with this Court on March 7,2018. 

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

This case involves an undisputed set of facts concerning the history of the ownership of 

the subject realty. The majority of those facts are established by documents recorded in the 

Hancock County Clerk's office before this action was commenced. By deed from Clarke H. and 

Alice L. Stewart dated June 23, 1966, brothers Arthur and Raymond Lewis and their respective 

spouses, Beverly and Jean, acquired three contiguous tracts of realty totaling approximately 185 

acres and located in Grant District, Hancock County as tenants in common. tppx. 0653. Thus, as 

I 
a result of the deed from the Stewarts, each of the Lewises acquired a 1/4 und,ivided interest in the 

, 

185 acres. The first parcel identified in the 1966 deed is described as consisti'ng of approximately 
i 

60 acres; the second parcel as consisting of 4 acres, 24 poles; and a third p*cel as consisting of 

3 



121 acres. As discussed beginning on page 9, infra, the 121 acre and 60 acre parcels are part of a 

200 acre farm once owned by James Goddard. 

The evidence establishes that the 121 acre parcel is located immediately to the north of the 

parcel described as in the 1966 deed as consisting of 60 acres. The 4 acre parcel abuts the 60 acre 

parcel at its Southeast boundary. The eastern boundary of each tract is formed by the West 

Virginia-Pennsylvania State line. Appx. 653. At all times relevant hereto, a road generally 

traveling east-west from a point where the road crosses the West Virginia-Pennsylvania line and 

named the old Lawrenceville Road traversed the 121 acre parcel. This road is presently designated 

as West Virginia State Route 16/2 Appx. 694. 

A. THE NOVEMBER 29,1977 LEWIS QUITCLAIM DEEDS 

The dispute arises from two quitclaim deeds executed by the Lewis brothers and their 

spouses on November 29, 1977 (hereafter "the 1977 Lewis deeds"). It is undisputed that in 

executing these deeds, the four Lewis co-owners intended to convey a portion of the 186 acres the 

Lewises had acquired from Stewart to Arthur and Beverly and a portion to Raymond and Jean as 

their separate property. The quitclaim deed to Arthur and Beverly is of record at Deed Book 177, 

page 282. The quitclaim deed to Raymond and Jean is of record at Deed Book 172, page 284. 

Appx. 0655-0659. The decision to allot parcels of the realty to the Le':~lis brothers as their 

respective sole property was evidently prompted by Arthur Lewis' wish to construct a home on 

the jointly own.ed property. Appx. 420. Raymond Lewis never resided on the realty acquired by 

the Lewises from Stewart. Appx. 367, 416. 

The parcel conveyed to Raymond Lewis is not in dispute. The "Raymond" parcel contains 

approximately 40 acres located in the northernmost portion of the 121 acre parcel conveyed by 

i 

Stewart to the Lewises in 1966. The Raymond parcel is depicted in gree~ on Joint Exhibit 11 
! 
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offered by the parties.! Appx. 694. Respondents claim that the 1977 quitclaik deed to Arthur and 
! 

Beverly Lewis conveyed the balance of the acreage the Lewises had received from Stewart located 

immediately to· the south of the parcel quitclaimed to Raymond and Jean Lewis. Alternatively, 

respondents claim that Arthur Lewis acquired ownership of this property via adverse possession. 

Respondents contend that the "Arthur" parcel consists of 93.16 acres. Complaint, ~~15, 2- Appx. 

7,10. 

Petitioners assert that the record establishes that the 1977 Lewis quitclaim deeds partitioned 

only the 121 acre parcel received by the Lewises from Stewart. Petitioners assert that the 60 acre 

parcel conveyed to the Lewises by Stewart in 1966 was not the subject of the 1977 Lewis quitclaim 

deeds. Rather, after execution of the 1977 Lewis quitclaim deeds, the 60 acre parcel remained 

jointly owned by the four Lewises. Referencing Joint Exhibit 11-Appx. 694, Petitioners assert that 

after execution of the November 1977 quitclaim deeds, Raymond Lewis and his wife owned the 

parcel highlighted in green; Arthur Lewis and his wife owned the parcel highlighted in yellow; 

and the four Lewises continued to own the parcels highlighted in blue as tenants in common. As a 

result of the 2008 deed from Thomas and Vickie Lewis, Petitioners assert that they own a 1/2 

undivided interest in said 60 acre tract and that Paul Alford and Ambria Alford each own a 1/4 

undivided interest in said 60 acres. 

The resolution of this case turns on the property descriptions contained in the two Lewis 

quitclaim deeds. The deed to Raymond and Jean Lewis described the parcel conveyed by the deed 

as follows: 

A certain parcel in Grant District, Hancock County, West Virginia, beginning at a 
point where the center line of West Virginia Route 1612(sic) intersects with the 
Pennsylvania State Border; then . 

'. Before the August date, 2017 bench trial, the parties submitted 58 joint exhibits io the Circuit Court in a 
binder. During the bench trial, the parties agreed to the admission offour additional joint exhibits designated 
as Joint Exhibits 59 through 62. A single exhibit offered by Defendants below was cbnsidered by the Circuit 
Court as a demonstrative aid. Appx. 631-32. : 
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North 01 ° -46'-37" East along the Pennsylvania border to a point; thel1 
South 83°-53'-22" West 250.06 feet to a point; then • 
South 46°-30'-00" West 275.00 feet to a point; then 
North 89°-34'-02" West 260.00 feet to a point; then 
North 00°-25'-58" East 337.60 feet to a point; then 
North 4 r-25'-13" East 1 000.00 feet to a point on the Pennsylvania border; then along 
said border North .01 °-46'-37" East 362.43 feet to a point; then 
South 79°-58'-.27" West 1100.00 feet to a point; then 
North 66°-11'-44" West 634.87 feet to a point; then 
South 30°-51'-08" West 370.11 feet to a point; then 
South 54°-28'-50" West 520.89 feet to a point; then 
South 59°-34'-31" East to a point on the center, or survey, line of said West Virginia 
Route 1612(sic): then along said center I ine South 61 ° -26'-44" East to a point on said 
center line; then North 7r East to the place of beginning. 

Being a part of the property conveyed by Clark and Alice Stewart to Arthur, Beverly, 
Raymond, and Jean Lewis by deed of June 23, 1966, recorded in Deed Book 129 of 
the records of the Clerk of Hancock County, West Virginia. 

The quitclaim deed to Arthur and Beverly Lewis contained the following description of the parcel: 

A certain tract in Grant District, Hancock County, West Virginia, beginning at a point 
on the Pennsylvania state Line, then North 68°-54'-11" West to the centerline of 
the dirt road then along said center line North 31 °-52'-16" East to· a point on said 
center line, then along said center line North 3 1 ° -03'- 56" East to the center of a paved 
road known as West Virginia Route 1612 (sic), then thence South 61°-24'-44" East 
along second said centerline, then North 77°-43'-36" East to a point on the 
Pennsylvania state line, then south 01°-46'-36" west along the Pennsylvania Line to 
the place of beginning. 

Being a part of the property conveyed by Clark (sic) and Alice Stewart to Arthur, 
Beverly, Raymond and Jean Lewis by deed dated June 23, 1966, recorded in Deed 
Book 129 of the records of the Clerk of Hancock County, West Virginia. (emphasis 
added) 

The Lewis quitclaim deeds indicate they were prepared by Attorney Berry Hill, a lawyer then 

practicing in Weirton, West Virginia. Appx. 0656, 659.2 The deeds do not state the acreage of the 

parcels conveyed to Raymond and Arthur. As discussed hereafter, the descriptions of the parcels 

in the Lewis quitclaim deeds are new descriptions; that is, the descriptions identifying the parcels 

in the Lewis quitclaim deeds do not exist in previous deeds involving the same realty. 

Respondents argue that the description contained in the deed to ArthQr Lewis is ambiguous 

because it is not possible to determine the location of the southern bound~ry of the parcel. The 

2. Hill was not deposed nor did he testify at trial. 
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description of the southern boundary contained in the deed to Arthur Lewis a line "beginning at 

a point on the Pennsylvania state line, then North 68° 54' II" West to the centerline of a dirt 

road ... ". Appx. 749. The other boundaries of the parcel described in the deed to Arthur Lewis are 

easily located by reference to physical monumentation. The dirt road referenced in the property 

description in the deed to Arthur as the western boundary of the Arthur tract is identified as West 

Virginia Secondary Route 3014. Appx. 552. The paved road identified as West Virginia State Route 

1612 (in fact West Virginia Secondary Route 16/2) in the property description in the deed to Arthur 

is also sometimes identified as the old Lawrenceville Road. Appx. 523, 694. Thus, the parcel 

described in the deed to Arthur is bounded on the east by the Pennsylvania-West Virginia state 

line; the west by a dirt road designated as West Virginia Secondary Route 30/4, and on the north 

by a paved roa~ designated as West Virginia Secondary Route 16/2. Despite contending that it is 

not possible to locate the southern boundary of the parcel described in the deed to Arthur Lewis, 

Respondents claim that the intent of the four Lewises was to convey to Arthur all realty jointly 

owned by the Lewises located south of the West Virginia Secondary Route 16/2. Appx. 309-10. 

A cursory review of the Lewis quitclaim deeds reveals that they contain atypical 

descriptions consisting of a mix of the acceptable means of describing real estate. Some segments 

of boundary lines are described using courses and distances, some are described by courses only, 

some reference monuments, and all of the corners are designated by "points" rather than "pins" or 

other physical monuments as would typically be identified by a surveyor. 

The dichotomy present in the Lewis quitclaim deeds is that the stated courses and distances 

are hyper-accurate measurements, almost assuring that the descriptions w~re based on a survey. 
• I 

The lack of corner monumentation and omission of distances from some bQundary line segments 

in the quitclaim deed property descriptions indicate that said survey was eitper incomplete or was 
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performed for a purpose other than the preparation of the Lewis quitclaifn deeds. The record 
! 

establishes that the Lewises indeed possessed and relied upon such a survey when they prepared 

the 1977 quitclaim deeds. 

The record establishes that a survey of the Lewises' 121 acre parcel was conducted in 1973 

by Michael Baker, Jr. Inc., consulting engineers headquartered in Beaver, Pennsylvania. Baker 

prepared a plat dated November 7, 1973 depicting the results of that survey. The Baker plat was 

designated as Joint Exhibit 22 by the parties. Appx. 695.3 The Baker survey was not conducted to 

describe the parcels subject to the 1977 Lewis quitclaim deeds. Rather, as discussed herein, the 

Baker survey was conducted as a result of a contract between the Lewises and Arthur Stammelbach 

dated August 30, 1973 whereby the Lewises agreed to sell three parcels carved out of their 121 

acre parcel. The Lewises conveyed said three parcels to Stammelbach in February 1974. The 

record further establishes that the Lewises, or their attorney, subsequently used the Baker plat to 

prepare the descriptions contained in the 1977 Lewis quitclaim deeds. 

Petitioners assert that any questions regarding the sufficiency of the description contained 

in the quitclaim deed to Arthur Lewis are resolved when that description is considered in light of . ~ 

the ownership history of the realty conveyed by Stewart to the Lewises and the information 

contained in the Baker plat prepared as a result of the 1973 survey of the 121 acre parcel the 

Lewises received from Stewart. 

'. An enlarged version of the Baker plat is included in the Joint Appendix. 
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B. THE GODDARD FARM 

The 185 acres conveyed by Stewart to the Lewises in 1966 were part of a parcel containing 

about 200 acres once owned by James Goddard. James Goddard evidently died prior to the Civil 
1 

War and was survived by four heirs who inherited the subject realty. Between April 1854 and April 

1857, each of James Goddard's heirs conveyed their respective undivided interests in James 

Goddard's realty to James W. Gaston.4 Affidavit of Petitioner's expert, Stephen Prunty, Appx. 37. 

When platted, the descriptions contained in the deeds from the Goddard heirs to Gaston depict a 

parcel containing approximately 208 acres bounded to the east by the West Virginia-Pennsylvania 

state line. The following plat resulting from the description contained in the deeds from the 

Goddard heirs to Gaston was prepared by Petitioner's expert witness, Stephen Prunty. Prunty 

Affidavit Exhibit A, Appx. 45 

1 ~)tJ _t.r.,- .!7f,' 
~~ ,";,," \\ ;"f 

';. s(·'''\\ .>' 
.; ~; ~'J" •• '.. ~ .. 

::. ... :<)~W ~2' 

f> ,"-. \\ ::.'.1 ,,' 
., s $~ \\ :;-
N ~f;~} \\- ~.: £.' 

:?, ~j"J \.\ 1~7.~· 

H~ :-.:-. ~ 1 ~ ~ .t 
*: :-'~~.Vl ',>S 

4. The deeds from James Gaston heirs are dated April I, 1854 and of record at Deed Book 3, page 247; 
February L 1856 and of record at Deed Book 3, page 247; May 28, 1856 and of record at Deed Book 3, 
page 248: and April I, 1857 and of record at Deed Book 3, page 251. Prunty affidavit, Appx. 44. 
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By two deeds executed in late September 1860, James W. Gaston subdivided the Goddard farm 

into two parcels. By deed dated September 21, 1860, Gaston conveyed the southern portion of the 

Goddard farm ~onsisting of about 81 acres to John Brunton. By deed dated September 25, 1860, 

Gaston conveyed the northern portion of the Goddard farm and consisting of 121 acres to George 

Stewart.S Petitioners and Respondents agree that the 121 acre parcel created by the September 25, 

1860 deed from Gaston to Stewart was the subject of the survey that resulted in the preparation of 

the Baker plat over 100 years later. Gaston's deeds to Brunton and Stew~rt call for a common 

division line between the two parcels beginning at a post on the western boundary of the Goddard 

Farm and extending South 71 0 East 172.2 poles6 to a post on the West Virginia-Pennsylvania state 

line. To trace said line in a westerly direction from the post located on the West Virginia-

Pennsylvania line, it is necessary that the bearings in the call be reversed to read North 7P West 

172.2 poles. Thus, the southern boundary line of the tract described in the 1977 quitclaim received 

by Arthur Lewis and defined as a line beginning on the West Virginia Pennsylvania state line and 

extending North 68°-54'-11 West is within approximately 2° of the line described in the 

September 1860 deeds from Gaston subdividing the Goddard farm. When platted, the parcels 

created by the 1860 deeds from Gaston to George Stewart and to John Brunton appear as follows: 

5. The September 21, 1860 deed from Gaston to John Brunton is of record at Deed Book 3, page 466. The 
September 25, 1860 deed from Gaston to George Stewart is of record at Deed Boo~ 3, page 342. 

6. A pole is defil,1ed as a line 16.5 feet in length. 
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Old Goddard Fam in Bbck I 

Deed Bock: @"46<'<)·21-IX6j) In ReD W,lf, crr{)ncou:; d;sl~mc(' corrected and Origim;! DiYisior,.Unc COIT,:'::'[i'd 

Prunty affidavit Appx. 48. 7 

In November 186 L the southern 81 acre parcel from the Goddard farm created by the

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