I. INTRODUCTION: i 

I 
This is an action to quiet title to a disputed property line. The Plaintiffs/Respondents, 

who are the executrix and heirs of Arthur E. Lewis ("the Arthur E. Lewis Heirs"), filed this 

action for declaratory and other relief, to obtain a ruling from the Court, that they are the true and 

lawful owners of a parcel of real estate believed to contain approximately 93.15 acres, more or 

less, located in Grant District, Hancock County, West Virginia. 

The Circuit Court correctly held that the deed at issue in this case was ambiguous, and 

that the subsequent conduct of the parties established that the Arthur E. Lewis Heirs are the

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT: 

The Circuit Court committed no error in this case and correctly found that the disputed 

parcel rightfully belongs to the Arthur E. Lewis Heirs. In this case, what occurred is very simply 

that when it became apparent in or about 2006 that there was a course and distance error in the 

property description set forth in the quitclaim deed to Arthur E. Lewis dated November 29, 1977, 

the Petitioners manufactured a legal argument in an attempt to support a claim against the 

disputed parcel. Petitioners' argument hinges on legal technicalities based on documents of 

record of which the parties are deemed to have only constructive notice, and which is completely 

inconsistent with the conduct of the parties. The Arthur E. Lewis Heirs' argument is based upon 

what happened in reality, and the actual notice of the parties and their predecessors in interest. 

The Circuit Court's ruling is sound and should be affirmed. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT: 

Respondents submit that oral argument is unnecessary in this case. The Circuit Court's 

ruling is correct and supported by the evidence, and oral argument would do nothing to assist the 

Court in its ruling in this case. 

V. ARGUMENT: 

A. Standard of Review: 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court made after 

a bench trial, a two-pronged deferential standard of review is applied. The final order and the 

ultimate disposition are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and the circuit court's 

underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are 

3 



subject to a de novo review. Syl. pt. 1, Public Citizen, Inc. v. First Nat 'I Bahk in Fairmont. 198 
j / 

W. Va. 329,480 S.E.2d 538 (1996). 

Findings of fact by a trial court without a jury will not be set aside unless they are clearly 

wrong. Adkins v. Stacy, 214 W. Va. 371, 589 S.E.2d 513, (2003); McDaniel v. Romano, 155 W. 

Va. 875, 190 S.E.2d 8, (1972); Syl. pt. 1, Strahin v. Lantz, 193 W.Va. 285,456 S.E.2d 12 

(1995). Furthermore, Rule 52(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a 

trial court's findings of fact made pursuant to a bench trial "shall not be set aside unless clearly 

erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the 

credibility of the witnesses." Toler v. Merritt, No. 12-0394,2013 W. Va. LEXIS 483, at *4-5 

(May 17,2013). 

An abuse of discretion occurs when a relevant factor that should have been given 

significant weight is not considered; and when all proper factors, and no improper factors, are 

considered, but the circuit court in weighing those factors commits an error of judgment. State v. 

Calloway, 528 S.E. 2d 490 (W. Va. 1999); Brown v. Gobble, 196 W. Va. 559,561,474 S.E.2d 

489,491 (1996). "A finding is 'clearly erroneous' when although there is evidence to support it, 

the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a 

mistake has been committed." United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364,395,68 

S. Ct. 525, 542, 92 L. Ed. 746, 766 (1948). However, this standard precludes a reviewing court 

from reversing a finding of the trier of fact simply because the reviewing court would have 

decided the case differently. Phillips v. Fox, 193 W. Va. 657,664,458 S.E.2d 327,334 

(1995); See Anderson v. City a/Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564, 573,105 S. Ct. 1504, 1511,84 L. 

Ed. 2d 518 (1985). 

4 



All of the Circuit Court's findings are clearly supported by substantial evidence in the 

I 
record of the case. No finding is "clearly wrong" such that this Court could overturn the finding. 

Further, there can be no reasonable argument that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in its 

ruling in this case. The Court considered all of the evidence, heard all of the witnesses, and 

made correct rulings based upon the evidence, the testimony, and the law. Therefore, the ruling 

below should be affirmed. 

B. The Circuit Court's Order is supported by both the facts and the law. 

Pursuant to the Final Order dated May 2, 2017, the Circuit Court deemed the November 

29, 1977 deed to Arthur E. Lewis and Beverly C. Lewis ambiguous, as a matter of law. (Appx. 

288.) "The question as to whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law to be determined 

by the court." Syl. pt. 1, Berkeley County Pub. Servo Dist. V. Vitro Corp., 152 W. Va. 252, 162 

S.E.2d 189 (1968). Once a court finds that there is ambiguity, a court must endeavor to search 

for the intent of the parties, including marshaling extrinsic facts. Poulos V. LBR Holdings, LLC, 

238 W. Va. 89,94,792 S.E.2d 588, 593 (2016). 

The Circuit Court, in its discretion, used a mix of law and fact to determine the intent of 

the parties, Arthur E. Lewis and Beverly C. Lewis, his wife and Raymond S. Lewis, his wife, at 

Jhe time of the November 29, 1977 deed. In Snider v. Robinett, 78 W.Va. 88,88 S.E. 599 

(1916), this Court held: 

To enable the court to construe a deed or other writing, ambiguous 
on its face, it is always permissible to prove the situation of 
the parties, the circumstances surrounding them when the contract 
was entered into and their subsequent conduct giving it a practical 
construction, but not their verbal declarations. But, if a latent 
ambiguity is disclosed by such evidence, such for instance as that 
the terms of the writing are equally applicable to two or more 
objects, when only a certain one of them was meant, then prior and 
contemporaneous transactions of the parties are admissible, for the 
purpose of identifying the particular object intended. 
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Id. at Syl. pt. 2. See also Kopfv. Lacey, 208 W. Va. 302, 540 S.E.2d 170 (2000); Gastar 
Exploration Inc., 239 W.Va. 792, 806 S.E.2d 448 (2017). ! 

The Circuit Court ascertained the circumstances surrounding the conveyance of the deed 

to Arthur E. Lewis and Beverly C. Lewis, finding the reasonable conclusion is that the parties, 

being laymen, attempted to rely upon a survey completed by Michael Baker, Jr., DRA VO 

Corporation, which did not describe and define all of the lands owned by the Lewis Brothers in 

1977. (Appx. 858.) The Baker survey only described the portion of the land that DRA VO 

Corporation intended to purchase from the Lewis brothers, which resulted in the ambiguity in the 

November 29, 1977 deed. The ambiguity permitted the Circuit Court to use extrinsic evidence to 

determine the intent of the parties. 

The Circuit Court reviewed all of the extrinsic evidence, including the testimony of 

witnesses and the subsequent conduct and actions of Arthur E. Lewis, Beverly C. Lewis, 

Raymond S. Lewis, Jean T. Lewis, Thomas Lewis, and Vickie Lewis. (Appx. 858.) The Circuit 

Court correctly found that the most persuasive evidence of the intent of the parties to the 

November 29, 1977 deed, was the subsequent conduct of the actual parties to the November 29, 

1977 deed. 

Acting as Executrix of her husband's estate, Jean T. Lewis filed an appraisement under 

oath dated May 5,1993, that claimed no ownership interest in the disputed 93.I5-acre tract. 

(Appx. 811-815.) Acting as Executor of the Estate of Jean T. Lewis, Thomas Lewis filed an 

appraisement dated September 20, 1996, that did not claim an interest in the disputed 93.I5-acre 

tract. (Appx. 817-822.) Meanwhile, Arthur E. Lewis, an original party to the November 29, 

1977 deed at issue, claimed throughout his life that he was the sole owner of the 93 .15-acre tract, 

and that claim was supported by his brother, Raymond S. Lewis. (Appx. 446-455; 823; 826-830.) 
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To argue to the contrary, the Petitioners ask this Court to ignore wh~t happened in reality 
I 

and instead to look at documents in the chain of title dating back to the 1800' s. Petitioners argue 

that this Court must ignore the conduct of the parties, including their own inconsistent conduct, 

in favor of a manufactured legal argument. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that Arthur E. 

Lewis and Beverly C. Lewis were the grantees of the disputed parcel in the ambiguous deed. Its 

ruling is supported by both the facts and the law, and therefore, the ruling should be affirmed. 

C. The Circuit Court properly considered the Petitioner's expert testimony. 

Petitioners erroneously claim that the circuit court erred by rejecting the testimony of 

their expert witnesses without providing a proper explanation. The Petitioners cite Brown v. 

Gobble in an attempt to support their argument.3 196 W. Va. 559 at 569, 474 S.E.2d 489 at 499. 

The Brown Court held that a judge must give a fuller explanation when the judge decides against 

the "greater amount of evidence," and where the "credibility of the witnesses" is the 

"determining factor" in the decision. !d. 

Petitioners' interpretation of Brown is wrong and has no application in this case. The 

Circuit Court judge did not decide against the "greater amount of evidence" and the "determining 

factor" was not the creditability of the Petitioners' expert witnesses. The Petitioners attempted to 

present the testimony of their experts to establish the intent of the parties. That testimony was 

specifically contradicted by Respondents' witnesses and the conduct of the parties. The Circuit 

Court gave an appropriate explanation to the weight given to Petitioners' witnesses' testimony, 

3 "[W]hen a judge, sitting without jury, decides against the greater amount ofthe evidence, the judge is 
obligated to give a fuller explanation for his or her ruling. Under these circumstances, the findings in a 
bench trial must be sufficiently detailed, reasoned, and logical to enable the reviewing court to trace a 
persuasive path between the evidence and the judgment. Where the determinative factor' at trial is the 
credibility of the witnesses, this requires a trial court to specify what witnesses were not credited and 
why." 
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explaining that the "only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from this evidence is that the 
I 

Lewis brothers and/or their representative had the Michael Baker, Jr. surve~ in their possession 

at the time the descriptions were prepared for the November 29, 1977 deeds." (Appx. 858.) The 

explanation provided by the Circuit Court is more than sufficient enough to enable this Court to 

"trace a persuasive path between the evidence and the judgment." Brown, 196 W.Va. at 569. 

As discussed above, the determining factors for the Circuit Court were the subsequent 

conduct and actions of the original parties of the November 29,1977, and not the creditability of 

the witnesses. (Appx. 859.) The Circuit Court explained that the subsequent conduct and actions 

of Arthur E. Lewis and Beverly C. Lewis, his wife and Raymond S. Lewis and Jean T. Lewis, his 

wife, were the "most important factors to consider" in determining the intent of the parties. Id. 

The Circuit Court found the "most persuasive evidence" to the parties' intent was the subsequent 

conduct and actions of Jean T. Lewis and Arthur E. Lewis, original parties to the November 29, 

1977 deed. When Raymond S. Lewis died, Jean T. Lewis as Executrix was required to complete 

and file an Appraisement that set forth all of the assets claimed to be owned by Raymond S. 

Lewis. On May 5, 1993, nearly sixteen (16) years after the November 29, 1977, deed was 

prepared, Jean T. Lewis did not claim that either she or Raymond S. Lewis had an ownership 

interest in the disputed 93.15-acre tract. (Appx. 859-60.) Further, in his Last Will and Testament 

dated June 28, 2000, Arthur E. Lewis claims sole ownership of a six (6) acre tract located 

completely in the area that Petitioners' experts maintain was not conveyed to Arthur E. Lewis. 

The Circuit Court did not disregard the Petitioners' experts. It considered the evidence 

presented and determined that it was outweighed by other evidence in the case, and more 

particularly, by the Petitioners' own inconsistent conduct. There was no abuse of discretion. As 

such, the Circuit Court's Order should be affirmed. 
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D. The Circuit Court correctly ruled on Respondents' advet-se possession claim. 

I 
Respondents proved each and every element of adverse possession and are entitled to 

complete ownership of the contested real estate under the doctrine. The doctrine of adverse 

possession is firmly established in West Virginia's property law and accompanies West Virginia 

Code §55-2-1. Under the doctrine, a person who makes a claim of ownership over a tract ofland 

under the theory of adverse possession must show that he has 1) actual and 2) exclusive 

possession of such land; 3) which is either hostile and adverse; 4) that said possession has been 

open and notorious; 5) that said possession has been continuous through the statutory period; and 

6) that said possession has been made under a claim of right or claim of title. Somon v. Murphy 

Fabrication & Erection Co., 232 S.E.2d 524 (W.Va. 1977). 

A tenant in common may oust another cotenant by openly treating part of the property as 

his own. Jarrett v. Osbourne, 84 W. Va. 559,101 S.E. 162 (1919). A tenant in common in sole 

possession of the land may make his possession adverse to his fellow tenant by repudiating or 

disavowing the relation of tenancy in common between them, and any act or conduct of his 

signifying intention to hold, occupy, and enjoy the premises exclusively of which the tenant out 

of possession has knowledge, or of which he has sufficient information to put him upon inquiry, 

amounts to an ouster of such tenant." Id. 

After the conveyance of the deed on November 29, 1977, and until his death on January 

19, 2006, Arthur E. Lewis had actual and exclusive possession of all of the land at issue. During 

that time, Arthur E. Lewis fenced in his property and he kept Rottweilers on the property, 

effectively possessing the land in a manner hostile and adverse to others. Arthur E. Lewis 

possessed the property openly and notoriously by residing on the land, building structures, 

9 



allowing Joseph Ludovici to hunt on his land, and made it commonly known that he owned the 
I 

property. 

The Petitioners claim that Arthur E. Lewis did not adversely possess the property at 

dispute because Arthur E. Lewis' activity was consistent with his ownership as a cotenant and 

because he did not possess the land under a claim of right or color of title. However, "color of 

title" imports there is an "instrument giving the appearance of title, but which instrument in point 

of law does not. In other words, the title paper is found to be defective in conveying the legal 

title." Somon,160 W. Va. 84 at 95,232 S.E.2d 524 at 530; Stover v. Stover, 60 W. Va. 285, 54 

S.E. 350 (1906). The Circuit Court found that "color of title" was satisfied upon the conveyance 

of the deed to Arthur E. Lewis dated November 29,1977. Additionally, the Circuit Court found 

"color of title" was satisfied by and through the Last Will and Testament of Arthur E. Lewis 

dated June 28,2000, when he devised complete ownership of a six (6) acre tract located in the 

area that the Petitioners maintain, by and through their experts, was not conveyed to Arthur E. 

Lewis by the November 29,1977, deed. 

To establish "claim of title," evidence must be presented showing that possession of the 

disputed property was claimed by the occupant without actual title ownership during the entire 

requisite ten-year period. See Somon, 160 W.Va. 84 at 95; 232 S.E.2d 524 at 530. In this case, 

the Circuit Court found that Arthur E. Lewis had "claim of right" and effectively ousted 

Raymond and Jean Lewis by brush hogging the land, building a lake on the land, stocking the 

lake with fish, hunting and fishing on the land, logging the property several times, and paying the 

real estate taxes on the land. (Appx. 587.) The Respondents have exceeded the standard to 

establish claim of title and satisfied all of the elements of adverse possession. Therefore, the 

Circuit Court's ruling is supported by the evidence and the law and must be affirmed. 
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I 
E. Petitioners' summary judgment motion was properly denied. 

i 

Under Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is 

proper only where the moving party shows that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact 

and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 192, 451 

S.E.2d 755, 758 (1994). A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when there is 

no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the 

application of the law. ld. 

The Circuit Court properly denied the Petitioners' request for motion for summary 

judgment. The issue in this case was the intent of the parties in the November 29, 1977 deed, and 

the question of intent was a genuine issue of fact. The parties agreed that the deed did not 

"express the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language," and the parties "seem[ed]

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